STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Horry County

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JORDAN MARIE HODGE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001745  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 19 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

I. Whether the trial court erred by admitting a gruesome and graphic photograph of skeletal remains in a murder case, where the prejudicial effect substantially outweighed the minor probative value, and where the photograph was designed to inflame the passion of the jury?

II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting multiple autopsy photographs that depicted close-up views of skeletal remains, where the prejudicial effect substantially outweighed any probative value?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant and her co-defendant and ex-boyfriend, Kenneth Carlisle, were indicted by an Horry County grand jury in November 2017 for two counts of murder. R. 780. They proceeded to trial before the Honorable D. Craig Brown on September 30, 2019. R. 1. Ralph J. Wilson, Sr. represented Appellant; Martin D. Spratlin represented Carlisle. George H. DeBusk, Jr. and Seth A. Oskin appeared on behalf of the state. After a four-day trial, the jury found Appellant and Carlisle guilty as indicted. R. 762, ll. 12 – 25. Both defendants received life sentences. R. 777, l. 22 – 778, l. 1.

This brief follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The admission of evidence is within the circuit court's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.” State v. Dickerson, 395 S.C. 101, 116, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011). “A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct.App.2012); see also State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013) (“A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” (citation omitted)). In exercising its discretion on a Rule 403 objection to the admissibility of autopsy photographs, the trial court “must balance the [unfair prejudice] of graphic photos against their probative value.” Dial, 405 S.C. at 260, 746 S.E.2d at 502 (citation omitted).

## ARGUMENT

**I. The trial court erred by admitting a gruesome and graphic photograph of skeletal remains in a murder case, where the prejudicial effect substantially outweighed the minor probative value, and where the photograph was designed to inflame the passion of the jury.**

### Relevant facts

Appellant was on trial following the death of her grandparents. On July 13, 2017, her family filed a missing persons report for Linda McAllister, Appellant's grandmother. R. 168, ll. 17 – 19; R. 172, ll. 19 – 21. Shell casings were discovered in McAllister's truck which was in the possession of Appellant and her co-defendant. R. 177, l. 1 – 179, l. 5. The bodies were found in Horry County on July 15, 2017. R. 251, l. 5. – 253, l. 5. John Caulder, a former officer with the Horry County Police Department, testified that the bodies were “[h]ighly decomposed” and were “mostly skeleton.” R. 368, ll. 9 – 16. At trial the prosecution sought to admit state's exhibit 50, a graphic depiction of the skeletal remains. R. 368, l. 17 – 373, l. 11.

Defense counsel objected:

My objection, Your Honor, is [ ] that it, it shows a skeletal, a partial skeletal remain, and, and I think it's, it's graphic, and I think that if it were in black and white it wouldn't be as prejudicial, but I find it **extremely prejudicial** especially because it's in color, and it's more of a close-up than, than just a picture which would show where the, where the skeletal remains were. So I think that there is certainly a less, I won't say intrusive, but a way to, to present that same evidence without the **extensive prejudicial effect** that comes from the way it, it is in that photograph.

R. 370, ll. 6 – 15 (emphasis added). Counsel for Carlisle joined in the objection and cited to State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014). R. 370, l. 17 – 371, l. 2.

The state averred that probative value existed in the photograph:

We feel that there is probative value in State's 50 that is not in the other two photos. Those two photos show the bodies as they were found as they were partially covered. It's the only photo that shows them in the position they were found. It shows their proximity to each other, shows their position when they were found that, that can be argued as to how they were carried there, Your Honor. That's not shown in the other photos.

R. 371, ll. 4 – 11. The state posited that the photographs showed the position of the bodies such that they would be able to argue how they were carried there. R. 371, ll. 19 – 24.

The trial court, citing Collins, ruled that the photograph was relevant, corroborated testimony, and was introduced to show the unaltered condition of the victims. R. 371, l. 25 – 373, l. 11. No balancing test was conducted, and there was no mention of prejudice.

The prosecution questioned Caulder about the photograph. R. 375, l. 18 – 376, l. 20. Regarding state's exhibit 50 in particular, he indicated that the photograph depicted the bodies after brush had been removed. Id. He also testified that there was a strong smell at the scene where the bodies were discovered. R. 376, ll. 11 – 13.

### Discussion

Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions. State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997). Under Rule 403, SCRE, "evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." To be classified as unfairly prejudicial, photographs must have a "tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one." State v. Franklin, 318 S.C. 47, 55, 456 S.E.2d 357, 361 (1995) (internal quotation omitted).

"The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court." State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353

(1996). “If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.” Id. “When [balancing the danger of unfair prejudice] against the probative value, the determination must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case.” State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct.App.2008).

In State v. Collins, the South Carolina Supreme Court considered the issue of seven graphic photographs in a case involving dog bites to a minor. 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014). The defendant in that case was charged with being the owner of a dangerous animal and involuntary manslaughter. The Court explored the elements of both offenses and noted what the state was required to prove. Id. at 530-31, 763 S.E.2d at 25-6. The state sought to admit a group of photographs taken prior to the autopsy “[i]n order to support its assertions about the dangerous propensities of the dogs, the manner and extent of the attack, and Collins’s criminal negligence.” Id. at 532, 763 S.E.2d at 27.

The Court concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the pre-autopsy photographs. Id. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28. Holding that “[t]he evidence was highly probative, corroborative, and material in establishing the elements of the offenses charged,” the Court held that the probative value of the photographs outweighed the potential prejudice. Undertaking a discussion in the “substantial” requirement from Rule 403, SCRE, the Court held:

Where the State had the burden of proving the elements of the offenses charged and there were no eyewitnesses to the incident resulting in the victim’s death, the photos here provided concrete evidence as to that transpired on that fateful day.

Id. at 536, 763 S.E.2d at 28. The Court reasoned that “[s]ince there was no one else present at the time of the event, the photos aided the jury in evaluating the testimony offered by both the State and the defendant, especially as to determining the dangerous propensities of the dogs and whether or not Collins’s conduct was criminally reckless.” Id. at 536, 763 S.E.2d at 29.

That rationale is inapplicable in the matter at hand. There was no need to show any dangerous propensities or whether the actions of either defendant were criminally reckless. Murder “is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10. In a murder case, the corpus delicti consists of two elements: the death of a human being and the criminal act of another in causing that death. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 625 S.E.2d 641 (2006). The positioning of the bodies had no bearing on any of the elements of the crime of murder, did not corroborate witness testimony, and did not have any relevance to the alleged murders. There was no contention that human remains had been desecrated; the indictment was for murder.

Both the dissent and concurrence in Collins referenced State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 703 S.E.2d 226 (2010). In Torres, the state offered several autopsy photographs into evidence during the sentencing phase of a capital murder trial. Id. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 229. Similar to the explanation in Collins, the prosecution contended that the photographs were properly admitted “because they corroborated witness testimony and were introduced to illustrate the circumstances of the crime and the character of the defendant.” Id. The Court held that the “net effects of the photographs was to show what Torres did to [the victims], which goes straight to the circumstances of the crime. Id. at 624, 703 S.E.2d at 229. Also relevant to this case was this admonition:

Although we affirm the admission of the photographs, we take this opportunity to address an area of growing concern to this Court. The photographs at issue in this case, while admissible, are at the outer limits of what our law permits a jury to consider. Moreover, the State also sought to introduce evidence in the form of an autopsy dissection photo at trial, which the trial judge wisely excluded. Today, we strongly encourage all solicitors to refrain from pushing the envelope on admissibility in order to gain a victory which, in all likelihood, was already assured because of other substantial evidence in the case.

Id.

The state's contention that the photograph showed a different perspective from the others is not a sufficient justification for admitting the photograph; the same could be said of any two photographs that are not identical. Further, there was no overwhelming evidence of guilty. Defense counsel noted that only "substantial circumstantial evidence" of what transpired after the deaths occurred. R. 770, ll. 3 – 10.

**II. The trial court erred in admitting multiple autopsy photographs that depicted close-up views of skeletal remains, where the prejudicial effect substantially outweighed any probative value.**

Relevant facts

Dr. Cynthia Schandl, a forensic pathologist at the Medical University of South Carolina, was qualified as an expert witness in her field. R. 466, l. 21 – 470, l. 5. She performed the autopsies of both decedents. R. 470, l. 25 – 471, l. 2. She declared that a gunshot wound to the head was the cause of death for both individuals. R. 480, ll. 6 – 11; R. 485, l. 21 – 486, l. 1. Photographs from the autopsies were authenticated by Dr. Schandl and offered by the state, prompting objections by defense counsel. R. 476, l. 4 – 22; R. 478, ll. 4 – 21; R. 481, l. 20 – 482, l. 2; R. 483, ll. 9 – 16; R. 484, ll. 13 – 18. The photographs were admitted over the objections.

Referencing a sidebar, a discussion regarding the photographs took place on the record with the jury outside the courtroom. R. 500, l. 8 – 505, l. 5. Echoing prior objections regarding prejudicial photographs, counsel for Appellant noted that the photographs were "unduly prejudicial" and created substantial prejudice. R. 501, ll. 12 – 18.

The trial court again cited Collins, supra, and ruled that the photographs which were admitted were the least prejudicial ones offered. R. 503, l. 8 – 505, l. 5. The trial judge went

through and discussed what each photograph shows and then remarked that they “show the nature and extent of each of the victim’s injuries and provide evidence as to what happened on the date that these individuals lost their lives.” Id.

### Discussion

Rule 403, SCRE provides that, “[a]lthough relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” “Probative” means “[t]ending to prove or disprove.” *Black’s Law Dictionary* 1323 (9th ed.2009). “Probative value” is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case. It is the weight that a piece of relevant evidence will carry in helping the trier of fact decide the issues. “[T]he more essential the evidence, the greater its probative value.” United States v. Stout, 509 F.3d 796, 804 (6th Cir.2007) (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, a court analyzing probative value considers the importance of the evidence and the significance of the issues to which the evidence relates. As our supreme court stated in State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 703 S.E.2d 226 (2010), “[p]hotographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are ... not *necessary* to substantiate *material* facts or conditions.” 390 S.C. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 228 (emphasis added). The evaluation of probative value cannot be made in the abstract, but should be made in the practical context of the issues at stake in the trial of each case. See State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct.App.2008) (“When [balancing the danger of unfair prejudice] against the probative value, the determination must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case.” (citing State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007))).

The probative value of the photos must be balanced against “the danger of unfair prejudice.” Prejudice that is “unfair” is distinguished from the legitimate impact all evidence has

on the outcome of a case. “ ‘Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.’ ” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct.App.1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir.1993)). “ ‘All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only *unfair* prejudice which must be [scrutinized under Rule 403].’ ” Id. (quoting United States v. Rodriguez–Estrada, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir.1989)); see also United States v. Mohr, 318 F.3d 613, 619–20 (4th Cir.2003) (“Rule 403 only requires suppression of evidence that results in unfair prejudice—prejudice that damages an opponent for reasons other than its probative value, for instance, an appeal to emotion....”).

Photos pose a danger of unfair prejudice when they have “an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.” State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009) (internal quotation marks omitted). Regarding this definition, the Supreme Court of the United States stated: “The term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 180, 117 S.Ct. 644, 650, 136 L.Ed.2d 574, 587–88 (1997). Like probative value, unfair prejudice should be evaluated in the practical context of the issues at stake in the trial of the case. See State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001) (“The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.”).

Eight of the photographs—state’s exhibits 58, 59, 61, 62, 63, 64, 66, and 128—were substantially more prejudicial than probative. Each shows a skull and/or partial skeletal remains.

Dr. Schandl's findings were not in dispute; the cause of death for both decedents was a bullet wound to the head. The photographs were unnecessary to prove anything in dispute; Dr. Schandl's testimony was sufficient to establish her procedures and the cause of death. The depictions of the decedents' skulls exceeded what the state was required to prove. Thus, the probative value was low.

On the other hand, the unfair prejudice was remarkably high. The photographs showed human skulls in graphic detail and served to inflame the passions of the jury. Designed to stir an emotional response, the introduction of the photographs provided a visual representation which mirrored Dr. Schandl's testimony. The photographs were of minor probative value, whereas the prejudicial effect they had on Appellant's trial was high. The trial court erred in admitting the photographs.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse her convictions and remand for a new trial.