RECEIVED

Jan 21 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Craig D. Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001745

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JORDAN MARIE HODGE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DON ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Evidence supports the trial court's ruling admitting photographs of the victims' skeletal remains because the photographs were relevant to show manner of death and did not suggest guilt on an improper basis.

Evidence supports the trial court's ruling admitting photographs of the victims' skeletal remains. State's Exhibit #50 shows the position of the remains as they were found in the woods. It was directly relevant to show the circumstances of the crime, including whether both defendants participated in the disposal of the bodies. Likewise, the black-and-white autopsy photographs were the only pieces of documentary evidence tending to directly prove manner of death. The photographs did not contain images of blood or gore, were not calculated to inflame the passions of the jury, and did not suggest guilt on an improper basis. This Court should affirm.

A. Evidence supports the trial court's finding that the danger of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value of the photographs.

"All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina." Rule 402, SCRE. "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403, SCRE.

If a photograph serves to corroborate oral testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27 (2014). "Courts must often grapple with disturbing and unpleasant cases, but that does not justify preventing essential evidence from being considered by the jury, which is charged with the solemn duty of acting as the fact-finder." Id. "Even the most gruesome photographs may be admissible if they tend to shed light on any issue, to corroborate testimony, or if they are essential in proving a necessary element of a case, are useful to enable a witness to testify more effectively, or enable the jury to better understand [the] testimony. Other acceptable purposes are to show the condition of the victims' bodies, the probable type or location of the injuries, and the position in which the bodies were discovered." Id. "Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis." State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998). "[A]ll evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided." Id.

i. Crime scene photograph.

State's Exhibit # 50 shows the victims' skeletal remains as discovered in the woods near the landing on Brown's Chapel Road. It carried immense probative value. The prosecutor explained that the exhibit was "the only photo that shows them in the position they were found. It shows their proximity to each other, shows their position when they were found that, that can be argued as to how they were

carried there, your honor." The trial court found the photo was "clearly relevant," noting the picture "simply mirrors the unfortunate reality of this case." (R.p.372). The Court cited State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763, S.E.2d 22 (2014), for the proposition that it is an "acceptable purpose" to "show the condition of the victims' bodies . . . and the position in which the bodies were recovered." (R.p.373).

The court could have cited several other cases which strongly support its ruling. In State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 480 S.E.2d 64 (1997), the Supreme Court upheld the introduction of photographs in a murder prosecution that showed "the crime scene and the position of [the victim's] body." Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78–79, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997). The court explained the "photographs supported the testimony of several witnesses and were relevant to the nature of the crime. The State used the photographs to establish that the murder was a deliberate and calculated act. These photographs corroborated [testimony] concerning the location of the body on the side of the road" State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78–79, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997).

Likewise, the court in State v. Robinson, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587 (1942), found no error in the admission of photographs in a murder prosecution of "the body at the location at which it was found." The court explained the photographs were "corroborative of the spoken word" and "showed material conditions which existed." State v. Robinson, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587, 588–89 (1942). See also State v. Edwards, 194 S.C. 410, 10 S.E.2d 587 (1940) (finding no error in the admission of pictures of a dead body "found on the side of a public road"); State v. Thompson, 420

S.C. 192, 802 S.E.2d 623 (Ct. App. 2017) (finding no error in the admission of pictures of a dead body "as found at the crime scene").

The position of the bodies was particularly important in this case because the State relied on an accomplice liability theory to prosecute Hodge and Carlisle. The photographs were relevant to the jury's determination whether both defendants participated in the disposal of the bodies, which in turn could have affected its finding whether both defendants participated in the murders themselves. In his closing argument, the prosecutor implored the jury to "[s]ee how those bodies were. See if you can't figure out how they were taken there. Look at their condition, plenty of time for two people to take them there" (R.p.716). Likewise, Carlisle's lawyer noted that it would have taken two people to bury the bodies. He argued, "Jordan didn't bury those bodies herself. . . . I submit to you they very well may have shown you that he helped bury the bodies, but that doesn't make him guilty of murder" (R.p.739). The picture was directly relevant to the State's theory of the case—that Hodge and Carlisle acted in concert.

Furthermore, the picture corroborated other circumstantial evidence. GPS records showed McAllister's truck was present at the landing for 27 minutes on the night of the murders. (R.p.716). This is a fairly short amount of time to dispose of two bodies, but it is more manageable for two people than one. The bodies were found haphazardly placed in woods, and it was obvious that little time was taken to hide them. With the GPS records, this is strong evidence that Hodge and Carlisle hastily disposed of the bodies on the night of July 3.

Conversely, the picture was not gruesome or gory. The victims' bodies were so decomposed that they were essentially skeletons. This is a far cry from the gruesome photographs at issue in other reported cases. Cf. State v. Edwards, 194 S.C. 410, 10 S.E.2d 587 (1940) (finding no error in the admission of pictures of a dead body despite the fact that numerous witnesses "testified as to the gruesome condition of the body and of the presence of maggots in large numbers in and near the wound"); State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 529, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014) (affirming conviction in dog bite case where child victim suffered "'extensive' loss of skin and soft tissue on his upper body and his face, including his ears and nose, which were 'completely eaten away' by the dogs. Areas of the boy's chest and his arm had also been eaten, exposing the bone"). While pictures of a human skeleton are somewhat disturbing, depictions of skeletons are ubiquitous in our culture and not particularly inflammatory. They simply do not compare to the type of gory photographs at issue in Collins or Edwards. See also Evans v. State, 306 Ga. 403, 411, 831 S.E.2d 818, 826 (2019) (explaining that while "photographs depicted the victim's skeletal remains and were, therefore, somewhat graphic, that does not alter their admissibility because each of the photographs 'was relevant to some point of the [medical examiner's] testimony"). Evidence strongly supports the trial court's decision to admit the photograph.

ii. Autopsy photographs.

State's Exhibit's 58, 59, 61, 62, 63, 64, 66, and 128 were taken during the autopsies. They are closer depictions of the victims' skulls that show small

fractures caused by a gunshot wound. Another picture showed the bullet recovered from McAllister's hair. The forensic pathologist referenced these pictures to support her opinion testimony that both victims died of a gunshot wound to the head. She used the photographs to illustrate the size of the fractures and their position relative to each other. She also used the pictures to illustrate the difference between entrance and exit wounds, and the pathway of the bullet. (R.p.488). The pictures were the only documentary evidence tending to prove cause of death. Accordingly, they had obvious, immense probative value regarding this central fact.

Again, there is added significance due to the fact that this was a "hand of one, hand of all" prosecution. The pictures were highly relevant to the jury's determination whether the same weapon was used to shoot both victims, and by extension whether the same person did both shootings. This was naturally a crucial fact. Carlisle's defense lawyer spoke during his closing argument about the size of the bullet holes in the two skulls. (R.p.737). He argued both victims were killed by the same gun. The use of one gun or two could have played a pivotal role in the jurors' determination of the facts, and whether the case was decided on an accomplice liability theory. While the state did not argue two guns were used, the jury was entitled to view for itself the only documentary evidence capable of shedding light on this critical issue. The pictures corroborated the pathologist's testimony that the fractures were roughly the same size, and therefore likely were caused by the same caliber bullet. (R.p.487-89).

As with the crime scene photograph, the black-and-white autopsy pictures were not particularly gory or gruesome. They essentially showed a human skull. While unpleasant, they are nowhere near as difficult to view as the bloody, gory photographs at issue in other reported cases. Compare State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014); State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (concerning admittance of "color autopsy photographs . . . depict[ing] the victim's scalp pulled away from her skull. One showed her surgically opened vaginal cavity exposing a large amount of seminal fluid"); State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 192, 215–16, 802 S.E.2d 623, 634–35 (Ct. App. 2017) (finding no error in the admission of autopsy photographs showing "deep lacerations on the inside of Victim's lower lip and bruising on Victim's shoulder, torso, back, buttocks, and legs" because they "helped the jury to understand the nature and extent of Victim's injuries"); State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 164–65 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding no error in the admission of autopsy pictures showing "exposed skull and brain" and "a side view of Mack's head that shows his inside-out scalp pulled down over his face" because the pictures were corroborative of pathologist's testimony). Their admittance was not "calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury" State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997). Evidence supports the finding that the photographs' probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. See State v. Oliveira-Coutinho, 291 Neb. 294, 318, 865 N.W.2d 740, 762 (2015) (finding no error in admission of photographs of

skeletal remains "including several close-ups of the skull taken from different angles").

Furthermore, the record shows the trial court exercised its discretion by excluding the photographs it felt carried the most substantial risk of unfair prejudice. The State originally offered a group of 11 photographs during the pathologist's testimony. Defense counsel requested a sidebar with the court, during which he objected to certain photographs outside the presence of the jury. (R.p.476). At the conclusion of the pathologist's testimony, the trial court held a hearing allowing defense counsel to place his objections on the record. (R.p.500). The Court explained that following defense counsel's objection, the State agreed to withdraw all of the color photographs. (R.p.502, lines 5–6). In addition, the court excluded three others; State's Exhibits 57, 60, 65. (R.p.500). These photographs showed "the frontal portion of each victim's skull" and "a photograph of the arm that had the metal rod in it." (R.p.500–01). The photographs that remained were State's Exhibits #58, 59, 61, 62, 63, 64, 66 and 128. (R.p.501).

The court explained that "each of the photographs that were admitted . . . were the least, so to speak, prejudicial photographs that could be admitted into evidence. I understand that these photographs do show skeletal remains. Again, that was . . . the condition that the bodies were found in." (R.p.503). Accordingly, the trial court exercised its discretion by admitting some of the photographs while excluding others. See State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014) (finding no abuse of discretion where "the record shows the trial court did

thoroughly consider the arguments of both the State and the defense, and it examined each photo while also conducting an examination of the forensic pathologist who took the photographs before making its decision"); State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 624, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) (noting "the trial judge did exercise his discretion by excluding three of the State's photographs, ruling that they were duplicative and prejudicial"). The court explained the pictures showed "the nature and extent of each of the victim's injuries and provide evidence as to what happened on the date these individuals lost their lives, and therefore, pursuant to such I do not believe that the prejudicial effect outweighs any probative value" (R.p.505). Clearly, this is not a case where the trial court mechanically admitted the pictures without considering their potential for unfair prejudice, or refused to exercise its discretion.

Hodge argues admission of the pictures was not necessary because the pathologist's findings "were not in dispute." While it is true that all parties agreed the victims died from gunshot wounds, the photographs were highly probative because they corroborated the pathologist's oral testimony. Our system of evidence has always permitted physical and documentary evidence to be admitted at trial to "substantiate" oral testimony. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010). It would be extraordinary to require the State to prove two murders beyond a reasonable doubt but prevent it from introducing the only documentary evidence proving manner of death. One can easily imagine the suspicion it would provoke among jurors, especially skeptical jurors, who are instructed ad nauseum

about the stringent "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard, if the State did not produce any documentary evidence to substantiate oral testimony about such a central issue. Prosecutors must be prepared to encounter a "doubting Thomas" on every jury.¹ The State must be allowed to prove its allegations in its case and chief, for it may not get another chance in cases (such as this one) where the defendant does not testify. As long as the evidence is not "calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury," it is not error to admit it. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010).

Evidence supports the trial court's ruling that the risk of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value of the pictures. Accordingly, Hodge has failed to show an abuse of discretion. Under the "highly deferential" standard of review in claims of error based on Rule 403, the Court is "obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment." Collins, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28. This Court should affirm.

B. Harmless error.

Even if the trial court erred, the admission of the photographs did not affect the result of trial. The remaining evidence conclusively proved Hodge's guilt, rendering any error harmless. This Court should affirm.

The improper admission of evidence is reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice. State v. Craig, 267 S.C. 262, 227 S.E.2d 306 (1976).

¹ John 20:24–29.

Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150,151 (1985). Determining if an error is harmless is not subject to a definite rule, but is assessed in light of the circumstances of the case and if, in this light, the error was not unduly prejudicial and material. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 447–48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011).

The evidence in this case was overwhelming. Hodge and Carlisle were caught red-handed in possession of McAllister's blood-soaked vehicle, which scientists proved contained a mixture of McAllister and Clemons' blood. Police recovered two .25 caliber shell casings from the truck, the same caliber weapon that fired the bullet recovered from McAllister's hair. The State proved Carlisle owned a .25 caliber handgun. Police recovered McAllister's credit card from Hodge's bedroom, and was able to prove Hodge and Carlisle made numerous purchases with the card in the immediate aftermath of the murders. Through GPS records, the State showed McAllister's truck travelled to the road on which Hodge lived, where it stopped for 12 minutes despite there being no buildings in that area. Shortly after, the truck travelled to the location where the bodies were found, and Hodge was shown to be in possession of the truck just over an hour later.

The State also produced substantial "consciousness of guilt" evidence, including Hodge's false statements to her uncle and police that McAllister and Clemons were in Ohio for a family emergency. Hodge claimed to have lost the keys to the truck, despite the fact that they were discovered in her bedroom shortly thereafter. Police discovered a partially-burned smartphone and pistol holster in a

burn pit behind Hodge's residence. The State was even able to show that Hodge did not approve of McAllister and Clemons' relationship, which she admitted in her recorded statement, establishing motive. Finally, Hodge essentially admitted guilt during the sentencing hearing, stating she was glad the trial resulted in "justice for [her] grandma" and asking for mercy. (R.p.772, lines 19–21).

Hodge's guilt was conclusively proven. While the photographs were probative and properly admitted, their admission did not reasonably affect the result of trial because Hodge would have been convicted even without them. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.